

Universität zu Köln

# Investigation of population dynamics, ecological traits and molecular phylogeny of bacterivorous chrysomonads

Inaugural-Dissertation

zur

## Erlangung des Doktorgrades

der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät

der Universität zu Köln

vorgelegt von

**Tobias Pietsch** 

aus Verl

Köln, 2023

Berichterstatter:	Prof. Dr. Hartmut Arndt	
Vorsitzende der Prüfung:	Prof. Dr. Ute Höcker	
Beisitzerin:	Dr. Anja Scherwaß	
Tag der mündlichen Prüfung:	07.06.2023	

## Abstract

The recognised high biodiversity of planktonic microbes in the absence of a comparable high variability of limiting conditions has fascinated scientist and is known as the "paradox of plankton". The high number of species which coexist in aquatic ecosystems at the same time contradicts the principal of competitive exclusion and requires further investigations to understand the mechanisms allowing the coexistence of multiple species on a limited number of resources. In the last decades empirical and theoretical studies provided some explanations to solve this issue as for instance environmental variability, spatial patchiness, competition or selective predation. Most of these studies focused on environmental and biotic interactions of species and did not consider potential intrinsic mechanisms originating from a single population itself.

The aim of this study was to investigate growth related differences within a single species population and their potential influence on complex nonlinear population dynamics favouring the coexistence of relatively similar species. Bacterivorous chrysomonads were chosen as a model group because they are essential and dominant bacterivorous in aquatic food webs. Phylogenetic studies revealed an unexpected high biodiversity of morphologically mostly indistinguishable species which classifies this group as an interesting model group to study mechanisms allowing their coexistence. Ten isolated strains were phylogenetically described and different growth-related traits were compared. Three of the isolated bacterivorous chrysomonads have a mixotrophic nutrition while the others are heterotrophs. For the comparison of traits, the mixotrophic species *Chlorochromonas danica* (SAG strain) was also included.

The phylogenetic analysis revealed that only three of the ten investigated strains could be assigned to known species of which one (*Ochromonas vasocystis*) needed to be redescribed (*Poteriospumella vasocystis* comb. nov.). One strain could only be identified on the genus level. The remaining six strains could not be assigned to known species and were morphologically and phylogenetically described as new species (*Pseudapoikia anjascherwassiae* gen. nov., *Vivaspumella atacamiensis* gen. nov. sp. nov., *Chlorospumella boenigkii* gen. nov. sp. nov., *Atacamaspumella andiensis* gen. nov. sp. nov. sp. nov., *Poteriospumella maldiviensis* sp. nov.). The trait comparison of those strains, including *C. danica*, showed that cell size and size range of ingested bacteria overlap for all investigated strains of chrysomonads while growth rate and dynamics differed to a notable extent. This was not only due to different nutritional strategies (mixotrophy, heterotrophy) but also due to species-specific differences which could not be explained by the other investigated traits.

Bacteria-free and well controlled single-species chemostat systems with two mixotrophic species were established to investigate intrinsic nonlinear dynamics and a continuous-time model was developed to study intracellular processes and their potential cause for nonlinear dynamics in those single-species systems. For the investigation of clonal trait differences as putative source for nonlinear population dynamics, an individual based model was developed and the coexistence of different traits was studied under natural temperature fluctuation.

The time series analysis of single-species chemostat experiments resulted in nonlinear population dynamics under well controlled and stable experimental conditions with indications of chaos-like dynamics. The continuous-time model was able to explain those nonlinear dynamics in single-species systems by considering the cell cycle as a complex intracellular process. For the first time it was shown that individuality and intrinsic aperiodic dynamics have to be considered for explaining the coexistence of species and genotypes. Moreover, the individual based model allowed the coexistence of clonal traits which differed in their temperature related resource uptake because they responded differently under natural temperature fluctuation causing nonlinear dynamics of the whole population. The results of the study point to the great significance to consider not only differences among species to explain their coexistence but also to consider differences within a population of a single species on the clonal and individual level to estimate effects on population dynamics.

# Contents

AbstractIII
General introduction1
Biodiversity, ecosystem functioning and stability1
Chrysophyceae4
Aims6
Chapter 1: High molecular diversity in the functional group of small bacterivorous non-scaled chrysomonad flagellates9
Chapter 2: Overlap and differences in ecological traits of bacterivorous flagellates: Comparison of mixotrophic and heterotrophic chrysomonads10
Chapter 3: Intrinsic nonlinear dynamics drive single-species systems
Conclusive summary and perspectives12
General references18
Subpublications and records of achievement24
Danksagung26
Appendix
A.1. High molecular diversity in the functional group of small bacterivorous non-scaled chrysomonad flagellates
A.2. Overlap and differences in ecological traits of bacterivorous flagellates: Comparison of mixotrophic and heterotrophic chrysomonads
A.3. Intrinsic nonlinear dynamics drive single-species systems
A.4. Investigation of trait based nonlinear dynamics with individual based models33
Eidesstattliche Erklärung gemäß §7 Abs. 846

## **General introduction**

#### Biodiversity, ecosystem functioning and stability

The recognised high biodiversity of planktonic species in freshwater has challenged scientists and the principal of competitive exclusion. Hutchinson (1961) described this issue as the "paradox of plankton". First experiments which led to the development of the principal of competitive exclusion were carried out by Gause (1934) who showed that two Paramecium species reached comparable abundances when grown separately while in a mixed culture one species suppressed the other one. In the following decades researchers further developed this idea. In brief, the competitive exclusion means that two populations that occupy the same ecological niche and the same geographic territory are competitors and if one of those populations grows better than the other, the population with higher growth rate will displace the other one (Hardin, 1960). With this concept in mind, Hutchinson (1961) addressed the issue of the high diversity of phytoplankton in an environment of nutrient deficiency which should lead to competition and thus to a competitive exclusion. His main argument why the principle does not hold true under natural conditions was the implied equilibrium system which should never obtained under natural conditions due to environmental changes. Moreover, he mentioned effects of symbiosis, commensalism and predation as beneficial for the coexistence of species. A review of mechanisms to explain the paradox of plankton is given by Roy and Chattopadhyay (2007). Those mechanisms can be divided into two main parts, firstly the system is out of equilibrium, and secondly additional limiting factors which prevent the competitive exclusion of species (Fig. 1).

Environmental properties change continuously due to external factors and influence the mixing of epilimnion in lakes avoiding an equilibrium. This can favour temporal and spatial patchiness and thus coexistence of species (Christensen et al., 2022; Richerson et al., 1970). Model approaches which assume a continuous variation in environmental properties demonstrated the possible coexistence of species under non-equilibrium conditions (Letten et al., 2018; Levins, 1979; Powell and Richerson, 1985). Although most studies of environmental fluctuation have focussed on resource variability, temperature fluctuation as promoting factor was also shown empirically to be important for species coexistence (Jiang and Morin, 2007). Moreover, the addition of a single nutrient in pulses prevents an equilibrium and allows the coexistence of several species (Ebenhöh, 1988). Such pulsing effects can be caused by excretion of zooplankton (Dini et al., 1987; Lehman, 1980; Pérez-Martínez and Gulati, 1999). The importance of nonlinear dynamics caused by the competing system itself has been shown with simple competition models. With a single resource, coexistence of two or more species is possible when limit cycles are present (Armstrong and McGehee, 1980). Moreover, Huisman and Weissing (1999) demonstrated that competition of species for at least three resources can cause oscillation and chaotic dynamics allowing multiple species to coexists.

Other important limiting factors which prevent a species from outcompete other species are different physiological and life-cycle patterns as well as predator-prey interaction. Huisman et al. (2001) investigated physiological and life-cycle parameters which were either chosen randomly or reflecting a plausible trade-off between those and found that randomly chosen parameters supported only a low biodiversity while plausible trade-offs supported the coexistence of more than 100 species in some cases. Predator-prey interaction can contribute to the coexistent of prey species by either preferring the most abundant competitor (Murdoch and Oaten, 1975; Roughgarden and Feldman, 1975) or the most competitive one (Armstrong, 1979).

The mechanisms mentioned above show that biodiversity is the result of complex interactions between species and changes of abiotic and biotic factors. They determine the population dynamic by either influencing the growth rate (e.g. limitation of physiological processes) or changing the population size as a consequence of trophic interactions (e.g. predation). Simple population dynamics can be mathematically described by their general pattern. The damped oscillation describes an oscillating



**Figure 1.** Conceptual scheme of mechanisms to explain the plankton paradox (taken from Roy and Chattopadhyay, 2007).

dynamic towards the system equilibrium with continuously reduced amplitude while limit cycles oscillate periodically within an upper and lower limit around the equilibrium. A more complex and unpredictable dynamic is the so called chaotic dynamic, a deterministic aperiodic dynamic with a sensitive dependency on the initial condition (Hastings et al., 1993). Such chaotic dynamics can already appear in simple population models (May, 1974) and were repeatedly found in theoretical studies mentioned above and several other theoretical studies (e.g. Costantino et al., 1997; Hastings and Powell, 1991). Experimental evidence for chaotic dynamics as predicted from models is rare, but Becks and co-workers (2005; 2008) demonstrated the appearance of chaos in laboratory experiments of a predator-prey system. The importance of those nonlinear dynamics was rarely considered in former studies compared to other mechanisms facilitating the coexistence of species and was addressed mainly in analytical models.

The causes for high biodiversity are not only of scientific interest. During the course of climate change and anthropogenic influence, the importance of biodiversity is nowadays widely discussed. Ecosystem stability and services rely on a diverse and complex community. Mason et al. (2005) presented a concept of how species richness and species evenness can be linked to functional richness and functional evenness and discussed both for ecosystem productivity. A high functional richness may indicate that the available resources are effectively used by the community while a low functional richness will reduce productivity of the community (Petchey et al., 2004). Biodiversity can stabilise ecosystems because species can respond differently to environmental fluctuation and can differ in the speed at which they respond to disturbance (Loreau and de Mazancourt, 2013). In the first case species can differ in their preference of abiotic or biotic factors causing asynchronous population dynamics which in turn stabilise ecosystem properties. The second case describes differences in growth rates and thus a different speed to respond to perturbation. Although mechanisms allowing a high biodiversity are intensively studied so far, a debate remains open and gives rise for further research. Recently, Kléparski et al. (2022) showed that the ecological niche of 117 marine plankton species of three different taxonomic groups is sufficiently distinct to allow their coexistence and moreover that marine pelagic environments are more diverse in space and time than assumed by Hutchinson (1961). The potential importance of nonlinear processes which are not directly determined by environmental changes may affect the population dynamic of a single species. Such influences on the coexistence of species were mainly overlooked in this debate. Cellular processes, however, are complex biochemical processes and should influence a population dynamic independently from environmental changes as nonlinear intrinsic process. The eucaryotic cell cycle is a biochemical process regulated by a complex network (Morgan, 2007; Tyson et al., 2002). Such biochemical processes depend on changes in concentrations of biomolecules and thus on dynamic changes of those (Morgan, 2007) and their oscillations are never exactly repeated (Tyson et al., 2002). Consequently, chaotic behaviour is likely appearing within cellular processes and might cause unpredictable dynamics with significant consequence for growth related parameters as intrinsic and not environmental driven mechanism. However, this has been seldom considered (Massie et al., 2010). Protists are excellent

model organisms to investigate the underlying mechanisms for biodiversity. Because Chrysophyceae are a common and often the dominating group in aquatic food webs, this group of protists is a reasonable group to provide new knowledge of mechanisms allowing the coexistence of many species. Further reasons for the choice of chrysomonads were their high growth rates and the possibility to grow under well controlled axenic (without bacteria) conditions.

#### Chrysophyceae

The Chrysophyceae belong together with several other clades like Placidida, Bicosoecida, Xanthophyceae and Diatomeae to the eukaryote clade of Stramenopiles (Adl et al., 2019). In fresh water ecosystems chrysophytes are common and often dominate the protist community (Bock et al., 2022; Matz et al., 2002). Only a few species are known from marine environments. However, a culture-independent analysis of chrysophytes diversity revealed the existence of several yet unknown marine clades (del Campo and Massana, 2011). Autotrophic Chrysophyceae can dominate the phytoplankton fraction of an aquatic environment by the formation of blooms (Kammerlander et al., 2015; Nicholls, 1995; Rott, 1988; Tolotti et al., 2003) while heterotrophs and mixotrophs are important bacterivorous flagellates (Boenigk et al., 2005; Boenigk and Arndt, 2000). Because of their importance in aquatic ecosystems and their diverse nutritional strategies chrysophytes were intensively studied in the last decades. Physiological studies focused on comparative investigations of autotrophic, heterotrophic and mixotrophic growth and their competitive advantages under experimental conditions (e.g. Pålsson and Daniel, 2004; Rothhaupt, 1996a, 1996b; Rottberger et al., 2013; Sanders et al., 1990). Other studies investigated and compared the ingestion mechanism and size of food particles (Boenigk and Arndt, 2000; Pfandl et al., 2004).

The morphological appearance of chrysophytes is diverse and often allows the identification of genera and species (Fig. 2). The Synurales and Paraphysomonadida are characterised by their siliceous scales, an important identification feature for genera and species. The colony forming genus Synura and the solitary genus Mallomonas represent prominent genera of the chloroplast bearing Synurales (Andersen, 1987). In contrast, Paraphysomonas which is the name giving genus for the Paraphysomonadida, is a heterotrophic genus feeding on bacteria (Scoble and Cavalier-Smith, 2014). The Ochromonadales is the most diverse group among Chrysophyceae and comprises heterotrophic and mixotrophic genera as well as solitary and colonial forming genera. Typical examples are the heterotrophic genus Spumella and the mixotrophic Ochromonas, both genera are solitary while the mixotrophic genus Dinobryon possesses a lorica and forms branching colonies (Andersen et al., 2017; Grossmann et al., 2016; Jeong et al., 2021; Piątek et al., 2020). The genus *Poterioochromonas* is a mixotrophic solitary and typically loricated genus (Andersen et al., 2017). Other mixotrophic and colony forming genera are Uroglena and Uroglenopsis (Pusztai and Škaloud, 2019).



Figure 2. Examples of different chrysophyte species. A. Colony of Synura petersenii (SAG 24.86). B. Mallomonas caudata (CCAP929/8), scaled. C. Vegetative cell and D. Scales of Paraphysomonas longispina. E. Colony of Dinobryon sp. (CCAP917/5). F. Ochromonas triangulata, unscaled. G. Spumella communis, unscaled. H. Poteriospumella vasocystis, unscaled. I. Poterioochromonas sp., unscaled J. Morphology of Uroglena K-L. Uroglenopsis turfosa. M. Morphology of Urostipulosphaera. Source of Image: A. Strain site of Catalogue of Collection of Algae (SAG). B. and E. Strain site of Catalogue of Culture Collection of algae & protozoa (CCAP). C-D. Scoble & Cavalier-Smith (2014) F. and I. Andersen et al. (2017) G. Jeong et al. (2021). H. Pietsch et al. (2022). J. and M. Pusztai & Škaloud (2019). K. and L. Pusztai & Škaloud (2022).

Despite the comprehensive morphological diversity among genera of chrysophytes molecular studies of the last decades revealed an even higher and unexpected biodiversity. Two main reasons for the underestimation of diversity may be named: Firstly, the morphological description of species is only possible if those are isolated and kept in culture for detailed studies. It is well known, that only a small portion of the protist community can be cultivated from an environmental sample because several species are relatively rare and fragile (Jeuck et al., 2017). Environmental sequencing surveys demonstrated that uncultured and thus unknown species of Chrysophyceae

exist because sequence data are often distant from known species (Bock et al., 2022; del Campo and Massana, 2011; Finlay and Clarke, 1999; Izaquirre et al., 2021). Secondly, molecular studies demonstrated that the morphospecies concept based on morphological distinct criteria is not always sufficient because several genera and species lack those distinct criteria (Andersen et al., 2017, 1999; Findenig et al., 2010; Grossmann et al., 2016; Pusztai and Škaloud, 2019). Species which correspond to the morphology of the genera Ochromonas and Spumella are two examples of those misleading morphology. More than 125 species of the genus Ochromonas have been described (Andersen et al., 2017). The identification of Ochromonas species is often difficult by means of light microscopy and morphological criteria. Important identification features are the intracellular organisation like the presence or absence of a stigma, the number of chloroplasts and contractile vacuoles (Starmach, 1985). This shows how similar genetically distant chrysophytes can be in the sense of morphology and thus it is not surprising that those genera are nowadays often recognised as polyphyletic. The same applies for other chrysophytes which were commonly termed as Spumella sp. because of their indistinguishable morphology. However, recently several new genera and species of "Spumella"-like chrysophytes were described (Findenig et al., 2010; Grossmann et al., 2016). All these species lack a reliable morphological feature to distinguish those from Spumella and each other. Thus, it is doubtful that chrysophytes which were identified by means of light microscopy as Spumella sp. are necessarily species of this genus.

#### Aims

The motivation for this thesis was to investigate population dynamics and ecological traits, their contribution to biodiversity and thus their importance for ecosystem functioning and stability. Protists are excellent model organisms to study population dynamics because their generation time is short and cultivation as well as experiments are affordable and easily to implement compared to other organisms. Since Chrysophyceae represent a diverse and important clade among protists for freshwater ecosystems. This was the reason to focus on species and strains of this taxonomic group. Within this group heterotrophic and mixotrophic bacterivores species were chosen because recent molecular studies demonstrated that the phylogenetic diversity of those species is higher than expected from their morphological appearance. Moreover, bacterivores chrysomonads are important and dominant members of most aquatic food webs which points to the importance to study their biodiversity, functional traits and population dynamics to enhance our knowledge of the complexity of aquatic food webs.

For the investigation of this subject elven isolates of bacterivores chrysomonads were compared representing both, heterotrophs as well as mixotrophs, (Chapter 1 and 2). Beside one species (SAG 933-7, *Chlorochromonas danica*; obtained from the Culture Collection of Algae at Goettingen University) all isolates were either already available from our Heterotrophic Flagellate Collection Cologne (HFCC) from previous samplings or were isolated during this study to enhance the available set of strains. Bacteria-free

chemostat experiments were conducted and a continuous-time model was developed to examine intrinsic driven population dynamics (Chapter 3).

The following hypothesis were addressed on the basis of the available strains:

- 1. Isolates of bacterivores chrysomonads are morphologically almost indistinguishable, but represent a high phylogenetic diversity.
- 2. Different species and strains differ in ecological traits and population dynamics.
- 3. Instrinsic nonlinear dynamics appear in single-species systems and contribute to population dynamics.

#### Chapter 1

# High molecular diversity in the functional group of small bacterivorous non-scaled chrysomand flagellates

In this study the molecular diversity of non-scaled bacterivorous chrysomonads was investigated. From ten HFCC strains the SSU rRNA sequences were isolated and analysed. Most strains represent heterotrophic strains representing the "*Spumella*"-like morphology. Their morphology was studied with light microscopy. To evaluate potential fine structured differences stains were further investigated by electron microscopy. The main hypotheses and aim of this study were to elucidate the hidden diversity of morphologically undistinguished species, their taxonomic position within the clade of Chrysophyceae and the description of undescribed species to resolve the diversity. The main result of this study was that most strains could not be distinguished morphologically but they represented phylogenetically distinct species of which five were yet undescribed. The results reflect the high biodiversity of morphologically almost indistinguishable bacterivorous non-scaled chrysomonads.

#### Chapter 2

# Overlap and differences in ecological traits of bacterivorous flagellates: Comparison of mixotrophic and heterotrophic chrysomonads

The aim of this study was to characterise ecological traits of the strains and described species from Chapter 1 including the SAG 933-7 strain to address the hypothesis that strains and species have different characteristics of those traits. This might allow the coexistence of morphological similar species. Cell length and cell volume of strains and species were measured and calculated to compare those among strains. The second investigated trait was the prey size. Size and cell volume of ingested bacteria were measured and calculated to examine whether species and strains differ in their prey size preference. The last trait was the population dynamic. Growth rates and growth dynamic were analysed and compared. A second hypothesis was that individual difference in growth rates among individual cells exist and might contribute

to complex population dynamics. Therefore, the growth rate of single cell lines under well controlled and homogenous (axenic) conditions were analysed for two mixotrophic strains. This hypothesis is also addressed in Chapter 3. The main result of this study was that the trait differences of cell size and size range of ingested bacteria overlapped for all investigated chrysomonads while growth rates and growth dynamics differed to a notable extent. It was shown that those differences were partly among species representing different nutritional strategies (heterotrophy and mixotrophy), but also species-specific.

#### Chapter 3

#### Intrinsic nonlinear dynamics drive single-species systems

The hypothesis that nonlinear growth dynamics in single-species systems of protists without trophic interaction and under well controlled conditions appear was addressed in this chapter. The cause of those dynamics might be nonlinear cellular processes and thus differences in growth among single individuals of a species population (compare Chapter 2). To study intrinsically driven dynamics in single-species populations bacteria-free chemostat experiments were conducted and their time series analysed. Beside experimental investigations a continuous-time model was developed to evaluate to which extent the cell cycle as complex cellular process might cause nonlinear dynamics. The main result of this study was to show for the first time that individuality and intrinsic aperiodic dynamics have to be considered for explaining the coexistence of species and genotypes.

# Chapter 1: High molecular diversity in the functional group of small bacterivorous non-scaled chrysomonad flagellates

**Pietsch, T.**, Nitsche, F., & Arndt, H. **2022**. High molecular diversity in the functional group of small bacterivorous non-scaled chrysomonad flagellates. *European Journal of Protistology*, 125915. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejop.2022.125915

# Chapter 2: Overlap and differences in ecological traits of bacterivorous flagellates: Comparison of mixotrophic and heterotrophic chrysomonads

**Pietsch, T**. & Arndt, H., **2024**. Comparison of mixotrophic and heterotrophic chrysomonads of similar size regarding bacterivory and growth rate. *European Journal of Protistology*, 126109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejop.2024.126109.

# Chapter 3: Intrinsic nonlinear dynamics drive single-species systems

Werner, J., **Pietsch, T.**, Hilker, F. M., & Arndt, H. **2022**. Intrinsic nonlinear dynamics drive single-species systems. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *119*(44). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2209601119

## **Conclusive summary and perspectives**

The high biodiversity and the coexistence of species is crucial for ecosystem stability and services (Loreau and de Mazancourt, 2013). Therefore, it is important to understand underlying mechanisms to allow the coexistence of several species within ecosystems. Most research focussed on species-species interactions and influences of environmental conditions as mechanisms of species coexistence. Potential mechanisms originating for the population itself were mainly overlooked. Those intrinsic driven population mechanisms should influence the population dynamics to a notable extent. Consequently, nonlinear population dynamics driven by intrinsic mechanisms may change species-species interactions and may contribute to the coexistence of species (Huisman and Weissing, 1999).

Chrysophyceae are a diverse and important taxonomic group of protists in aquatic ecosystems and were therefore chosen for the study of phylogenetic diversity, ecological traits and population dynamics. The phylogenetic analysis on the bases of the SSU rRNA sequence (18S) revealed that most of the investigated strains represented yet undescribed species and genera (Chapter 1). Those were morphologically described by means of light and electron microscopy and their phylogenetic position within the clade of Chrysophyceae based on sequence differences. The morphological investigation revealed that heterotrophic strains could not be distinguished from each other neither by light nor electron microscopy while the phylogenetic analysis revealed significant sequence differences and different taxonomic relationships. The analysis illustrated not only that strains belong to different species and genera but also to different families and orders. Most strains could be affiliated to the Ochromonadales which is the most diverse group among Chrysophyceae. The phylogenetic position of the other two strains (HFCC 236 and 1230) remains unclear (Incertae sedis) but they represented two distinct clades allowing a species description. Within the clade Incertae sedis, Pseudapoikia anjascherwassiae gen. nov. sp. nov. (HFCC 236) and Vivaspumella atacamiensis gen. nov. sp. nov. (HFCC 1230) were newly described. Within the Ochromonadales, three more new species could be described Atacamaspumella andiensis gen. nov. sp. nov. (HFCC1250), Chlorospumella boenigkii gen. nov. sp. (HFCC 1534 and 1538) and Poteriospuemlla maldiviensis sp. nov. (HFCC 660). The mixotrophic HFCC 668 was morphologically identified as Ochromonas vasocystis but needed to be redescribed as Poteriospumella vasocystis comb. nov. because it does not phylogenetically belong to the genus Ochromonas (Andersen et al., 2017) and the low sequence difference compared to HFCC 1532 and 660 (below 1.5%) did not justify a description as separate genus. The description of heterotrophic and mixotrophic species within a genus is supported by the finding of plastidal remains, different stages of reduction in photosynthesis related pathways and plastid structure in heterotrophic Spumella-like chrysophytes (Graupner et al., 2018; Grossmann et al., 2016). The last two strains HFCC 75 and 210 could be morphologically and phylogenetically confirmed as *Poteroochromas* sp. HFCC 75 was identified as *P. malhamensis* while HFCC 210 could not be associated to a distinct species due to uncertain assignments of morphologically described species and phylogenetic data (Andersen et al., 2017).

The phylogenetic analysis was an important prerequisite for the investigation of ecological traits (Chapter 2), because a reliable morphological discriminability was limited to mixotrophic strains. The different strains of Chrysophyceae represented a comprehensive set of different species and genera and allowed a reliable trait comparison across phylogenetic distinct taxa. The investigation of cell length and corresponding cell volume revealed significant differences only between mixotrophic and heterotrophic strains. Mixotrophs were significantly larger than heterotrophs. An exception was the mixotroph P. vasocystis (HFCC 668) which was as large as heterotrophs. However, considering the size range measured from all strains (~4-8.5 µm), their effective size difference was relatively low. As an important trait for bacterivorous flagellates the size range of ingested bacteria was analysed by direct observation using light microscopy. The range of the length and cell volume of bacteria taken up by the investigated strains was in the same range and the mean length and cell volume did not differ significantly. Moreover, it could be observed that most strains attempted to ingest large filamentous bacteria which were, however, finally released without digestion. The investigation led to the conclusion that all strains investigated herein feed on the same size range of bacteria and can be described as unselective bacterivores. However, strains may differ in the efficiency to graze on different bacteria caused by different size relationships between flagellate and prey as well as other phenotypic properties of bacteria (Jürgens and Matz, 2002; Matz et al., 2002). Such potential influences were not considered in the study and should be addressed in further studies. As a third trait important growth-related parameters were investigated in growth experiments with bacteria as diet. The exponential growth rate as well as the maximal observed growth rate and the long-term growth rate were calculated from growth curves. The comparison of the exponential and the maximal observed growth rate revealed for all strains that the maximal achieved growth rate was higher than exponential growth indicating that all strains grazed effectively on bacteria causing food limitation effects. For two species, C. boenigkii (HFCC 1534 and 1538) and A. andiensis (HFCC 1250), the food limitation caused decreasing abundance already after two days. The long-term growth rate was calculated after the exponential growth phase. Mixotrophic strains were able to keep a stable but decreased growth rate until the end of the experiment while the abundance of most heterotrophs decreased, causing a negative growth. However, two species of heterotrophs (P. maldiviensis HFCC 660 and V. atacamiensis HFCC 1230) were able to keep a stable abundance (growth rate  $\sim 0.0 \text{ d}^{-1}$ ). As a second growth related parameter the achieved maximal abundance during the experimental duration was determined. Mixotrophic strains grew over the whole experimental duration and reached therefore maximal abundance at the end of the experiment while heterotrophs achieved the maximal abundance typically within a few days. The range of achieved abundance for heterotrophs varied strongly among strains (from ~2.5 to ~17.0 individuals per ml).

Several conclusions can be made from the trait study. All investigated species and strains are in a comparable size range from about 4 to 8 µm and feed on a comparable size range of bacteria. Considering only these two traits one would conclude that their ecological impact within an aquatic food web would be at least comparable if not equal. Taking the nutritional strategy (heterotrophy and mixotrophy) as a third trait into account one would assume that mixotrophs are more competitive under poor nutrient conditions than heterotrophs and vice versa under high nutrient levels (Rothhaupt, 1996). Growth related parameters such as growth rate and maximal abundance differed to a notable extent among species with different nutritional strategies (heterotrophy and mixotrophy) but also among species. The species P. vasocystis (HFCC 668) represents a remarkable exception. Although it is a mixotrophic species the cell size and growth rate are more comparable with heterotrophs (Fig. 3). Thus, it might be the most competitive species under most environmental conditions of all investigated strains because it combines both, the high growth rate of heterotrophs (compared to mixotrophs) and the ability to grow under poor nutrient conditions, although this was comparatively low. This is also supported by the phylogenetic relationship to the two heterotrophs P. lacustis and P. maldiviensis (Chapter 1). The mixotroph C. danica (SAG 933-7) was phylogenetically closely related to the heterotrophic species Chlorospumella boenigkii but less than P. vasocystis to the next heterotrophs. The lower growth rate (compared to heterotrophs) of C. danica was more comparable to the mixotrophic genus *Poterioochromonas*. Considering phylogenetic distance to C. boenigkii (HFCC 1534 and 1538) it seems that the degree



**Figure 3.** Trait comparison of phylogenetically closely related heterotrophic and mixotrophic chrysomonad species. Depicted are phylogenetic information (phylogenetic clades and sequence differences of SSU rRNA sequences), the mean cell size, maximal observed growth rate and long-term growth rate. Data from Chapter 1 and 2.

between mixotrophy and heterotrophy could be derived from the phylogenetic distance to heterotrophs. The polyphyletic origin of the same morphological appearance among chrysophytes reflected by the heterotrophic stains investigated herein is currently assumed as independent evolutionary process from mixotrophic ancestors (Graupner et al., 2018; Grossmann et al., 2016). Thus, the comparison of closely related mixotrophic and heterotrophic species should be addressed in future studies to provide more conclusive results for the phylogenetic relationship and the degree of mixotrophy. This is of importance because the ecological impact of mixotrophs obviously cannot be directly derived from the nutritional strategy as shown for *P. vasocystis*. In this study it was demonstrated that neither cell size, range of prey size nor the nutritional strategy were sufficient traits to derive the impact and potential coexistence of different chrysophyte species within an ecosystem. The growth dynamic, however, differed among species and such differences play a crucial role for coexistence (Huisman and Weissing, 2001). Although the investigated strains grazed on a comparable size range of bacteria they may differ in the preference of specific bacteria size and properties as mentioned above. Other feeding traits, which were not considered, could be responsible for differences in growth dynamics. The prey richness plays an important role for predator productivity. Both, prey as well as predator diversity, can be suggested as important factor for microbial ecosystem processes (Saleem et al., 2013). Small differences in traits can allow the coexistence of species and contribute to ecosystem functioning and productivity when an ecological niche is effectively used due to functional richness (Loreau and de Mazancourt, 2013; Petchey et al., 2004). The results show how morphologically similar species feeding on a comparable bacteria size range can differ in growth rates and growth dynamics. More research should be done with comparable protists groups, for example those which are affiliated with the diverse morphospecies complex Neobodo designis (von der Heyden and Cavalier-Smith, 2005), to extent the knowledge of small trait difference and their influence of the coexistence of morphologically similar species.

Such trait differences are not necessarily restricted to different species. They also exist among different clones of a species as shown for ciliates (Weisse and Rammer, 2006). The coexistence of different growth traits simulated by a temperature dependent nutrient uptake was part of a bachelor thesis (see Appendix A.4.). The conducted model is an individual based model which allows the definition and calculation of individuals separately. Previous models relaying on differential equations treat individuals uniformly and do not allow the analysis on the basis of individuals. Such clonal "subpopulation" may be influenced by environmental changes to a different degree which in turn influences the population differently depending on the actual state of clonal trait diversity within the population. This would mean that two populations are differently affected by the same environmental change because they differ in clonal trait frequency. This assumption is synonymous to a generalised view on phytoplankton as ecological functional unit (corresponding to the population) and different species which are part of it (corresponding to different traits). However, trait differences between different species should be generally larger than differences among individuals of the same species. Moreover, several other species-specific differences need to be considered causing higher differences among different species than among clones of the same species. The model revealed that different clones were able to coexist under natural temperature fluctuation (from the River Rhine), causing nonlinear dynamics of clones as well as the whole population. Differences in traits correspond to differently realised ecological niches. An appropriate distinct ecological niche allows the coexistence of several species by reducing the competition (Kléparski et al., 2022). This mechanism should also allow the coexistence of different clonal traits of a single species as shown by the model results if the differences are distinct.

In Chapter 3 the hypothesis was addressed that intrinsic nonlinear dynamics appear in single-species systems and that those contribute to population dynamics. Consequently, nonlinear population dynamics which allow the coexistence of several species (Huisman and Weissing, 1999) are not implicitly driven by external factors if this hypothesis holds true. For the proof of the hypothesis single-species systems with either P. malhamensis (HFCC 75) or C. danica (SAG 933-7) as model organisms were established in well controlled experimental bacteria-free chemostat systems. The analysis of time series revealed aperiodic fluctuations for nearly all experimental systems. In two of the time series analyses a positive Lyapunov exponent indicated chaos-like dynamics while in another time series the exponent was close to zero, indicating stable limits. For the last experimental system, the Lyapunov exponent could not be robustly determined. Since the amount of data derived from such empirical systems and the distinguishing between noise and deterministic dynamics is limited, a mathematical model is more promising to provide enough data to analyse the dynamic behaviour. For the mathematical analysis, a simple continuous-time model was developed. This model considered the different phases (G1, S, G2 and M) of the cell cycle as cellular process and aimed in the investigation of qualitative systems dynamics. The analysis revealed that all types of dynamics (damped oscillation, stable limit cycles and chaotic dynamics) can appear by modification of a single parameter. Cellular processes are complex and the cell cycle represents the main process of cell division and thus the increase of abundances of single celled organisms like protists and bacteria. The nonlinear dynamics found in the empirical chemostat systems seems to be driven by cellular nonlinear processes caused by complex cell processes like the cell cycle. It highlights that not only direct interactions between individuals and their environment can cause nonlinear dynamics. Consequently, cell processes can cause nonlinear dynamics and should influence population dynamics and thus the coexistence of species (Huisman and Weissing, 1999). Additional indications for the appearance of nonlinear dynamics caused by differences in growth rates of individual cells could be found (Chapter 2). The growth of single cells could be observed under well controlled conditions after separation via cell sorting (FACS). The observed growth rates which were individually calculated for cell lines originated from a single separated cell ranged from ~1.0 to 1.5 per day and supports the hypothesis that cellular processes influence growth dynamics.

With the studies presented herein it was possible to explain aspects which should contribute to the high biodiversity and the important questions formulated by

"paradox of plankton" (1961). Different growth dynamics Hutchinsons of morphologically similar species (Chapter 2), clonal differences in growth related traits (Appendix A.4.) and intracellular processes (Chapter 3) influence the population dynamics and should allow the coexistence of relatively similar species. Most of those aspects were mainly overlooked in both, empirical as well as theoretical studies. The population growth rate is usually described as a function of environmental factors (e.g. temperature, resource concentration) and assumed to be identical among all individuals within a species. The results of the study point to the great significance to consider not only differences among species to explain their coexistence but also to consider differences within a population of a single species on the clonal and individual level to estimate effects on the population dynamic. According to the chaos theory even small differences in starting conditions can have a huge impact on the pattern of nonlinear dynamics and should therefore favour the coexistence of several species. Other and more obvious mechanisms like predator-prey interactions contribute in addition to the high biodiversity in aquatic ecosystems. Thus, the complexity of foodwebs is the result of diverse interactions among species and within a species population. It is difficult, if not impossible, to disentangle these mechanisms because they influence each other and stretch over several trophic levels. A consequence of this complexity is the difficulty to consider all those important parts at once in a study. This present study showed for the first time that individuality and intrinsic aperiodic dynamics have to be considered for explaining the coexistence of species and genotypes and gives new insights of mechanisms to explain the complexity of biodiversity.

#### **General references**

- Adl, S.M., Bass, D., Lane, C.E., Lukeš, J., Schoch, C.L., Smirnov, A., Agatha, S., Berney, C., Brown, M.W., Burki, F., Cárdenas, P., Čepička, I., Chistyakova, L., Campo, J., Dunthorn, M., Edvardsen, B., Eglit, Y., Guillou, L., Hampl, V., Heiss, A.A., Hoppenrath, M., James, T.Y., Karnkowska, A., Karpov, S., Kim, E., Kolisko, M., Kudryavtsev, A., Lahr, D.J.G., Lara, E., Le Gall, L., Lynn, D.H., Mann, D.G., Massana, R., Mitchell, E.A.D., Morrow, C., Park, J.S., Pawlowski, J.W., Powell, M.J., Richter, D.J., Rueckert, S., Shadwick, L., Shimano, S., Spiegel, F.W., Torruella, G., Youssef, N., Zlatogursky, V., Zhang, Q., 2019. Revisions to the Classification, Nomenclature, and Diversity of Eukaryotes. Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology 66, 4–119. https://doi.org/10.1111/jeu.12691
- Andersen, R.A., 1987. Synurophyceae Classis Nov., A New Class of Algae. Am J Bot 74, 337. https://doi.org/10.2307/2443810
- Andersen, R.A., de Peer, Y. Van, Potter, D., Sexton, J.P., Kawachi, M., LaJeunesse, T., 1999. Phylogenetic Analysis of the SSU rRNA from Members of the Chrysophyceae. Protist 150, 71–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1434-4610(99)70010-6
- Andersen, R.A., Graf, L., Malakhov, Y., Yoon, H.S., 2017. Rediscovery of the Ochromonas type species Ochromonas triangulata (Chrysophyceae) from its type locality (Lake Veysove, Donetsk region, Ukraine). Phycologia 56, 591–604. https://doi.org/10.2216/17-15.1
- Armstrong, R.A., 1979. Prey Species Replacement along a Gradient of Nutrient Enrichment: A Graphical Approach. Ecology 60, 76–84. https://doi.org/10.2307/1936470
- Armstrong, R.A., McGehee, R., 1980. Competitive Exclusion. Am Nat 115, 151–170. https://doi.org/10.1086/283553
- Becks, L., Arndt, H., 2008. Transitions From Stable Equilibria to Chaos, and Back, in an Experimental Food Web. Ecology 89, 3222–3226. https://doi.org/10.1890/07-1988.1
- Becks, L., Hilker, F.M., Malchow, H., Jürgens, K., Arndt, H., 2005. Experimental demonstration of chaos in a microbial food web. Nature 435, 1226–1229. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03627
- Bock, C., Olefeld, J.L., Vogt, J.C., Albach, D.C., Boenigk, J., 2022. Phylogenetic and functional diversity of Chrysophyceae in inland waters. Org Divers Evol. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13127-022-00554-y
- Boenigk, J., Arndt, H., 2000. Particle handling during interception feeding by four species of heterotrophic nanoflagellates. Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology 47, 350–358. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1550-7408.2000.tb00060.x
- Boenigk, J., Pfandl, K., Stadler, P., Chatzinotas, A., 2005. High diversity of the "Spumella-like" flagellates: An investigation based on the SSU rRNA gene sequences of isolates from habitats located in six different geographic regions. Environ Microbiol 7, 685–697. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2005.00743.x

- Christensen, A.K., Piggott, M.D., van Sebille, E., van Reeuwijk, M., Pawar, S., 2022. Investigating microscale patchiness of motile microbes under turbulence in a simulated convective mixed layer. PLoS Comput Biol 18, e1010291. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1010291
- Costantino, R.F., Desharnais, R.A., Cushing, J.M., Dennis, B., 1997. Chaotic Dynamics in anInsectPopulation.Science(1979)275,389–391.https://doi.org/10.1126/science.275.5298.389
- del Campo, J., Massana, R., 2011. Emerging diversity within chrysophytes, choanoflagellates and bicosoecids based on molecular surveys. Protist 162, 435–448. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.protis.2010.10.003
- Dini, M.L., O'Donnell, J., Carpenter, S.R., Elser, M.M., Elser, J.J., Bergquist, A.M., 1987. Daphnia size structure, vertical migration, and phosphorus redistribution. Hydrobiologia 150, 185–191. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00006666
- Doflein, F., 1923. Untersuchungen über Chrysomonadinen. III. Arten von Chromulina und Ochromonas aus dem badischen Schwarzwald und ihre Cystenbildung. Archiv für Protistenkunden 46, 267–344.
- Ebenhöh, W., 1988. Coexistence of an unlimited number of algal species in a model system. Theor Popul Biol 34, 130–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/0040-5809(88)90038-X
- Findenig, B.M., Chatzinotas, A., Boenigk, J., 2010. Taxonomic and ecological characterization of stomatocysts of *Spumella*-like flagellates (Chrysophyceae). J Phycol 46, 868–881. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1529-8817.2010.00892.x
- Finlay, B.J., Clarke, K.J., 1999. Ubiquitous dispersal of microbial species. Nature 400, 828–828. https://doi.org/10.1038/23616
- Gause, G.J., 1934. The struggle for existence. The Williams & Wilkins company.
- Graupner, N., Jensen, M., Bock, C., Marks, S., Rahmann, S., Beisser, D., Boenigk, J., 2018. Evolution of heterotrophy in chrysophytes as reflected by comparative transcriptomics. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 94, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fiy039
- Grossmann, L., Bock, C., Schweikert, M., Boenigk, J., 2016. Small but Manifold Hidden Diversity in "*Spumella*-like Flagellates." Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology 63, 419–439. https://doi.org/10.1111/jeu.12287
- Hardin, G., 1960. The Competitive Exclusion Principle. Science (1979) 131, 1292–1297. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.131.3409.1292
- Hastings, A., Hom, C.L., Ellner, S., Turchin, P., Godfray, H.C.J., 1993. Chaos in Ecology: Is Mother Nature a Strange Attractor? Annu Rev Ecol Syst 24, 1–33. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.es.24.110193.000245
- Hastings, A., Powell, T., 1991. Chaos in a Three-Species Food Chain. Ecology 72, 896–903. https://doi.org/10.2307/1940591

- Huisman, J., Johansson, A.M., Folmer, E.O., Weissing, F.J., 2001. Towards a solution of the plankton paradox: the importance of physiology and life history. Ecol Lett 4, 408–411. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1461-0248.2001.00256.x
- Huisman, J., Weissing, F.J., 1999. Biodiversity of plankton by species oscillations and chaos. Nature 402, 407–410. https://doi.org/10.1038/46540
- Huisman, J., Weissing, F. J., 2001. Biological conditions for oscillations and chaos generated by multispecies competition. 82, 2682–2695. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2001)082[2682:BCFOAC]2.0.CO;2

Hutchinson, G.E., 1961. The Paradox of the Plankton. Am Nat 95, 137–145.

- Izaguirre, I., Unrein, F., Schiaffino, M.R., Lara, E., Singer, D., Balagué, V., Gasol, J.M., Massana, R., 2021. Phylogenetic diversity and dominant ecological traits of freshwater Antarctic Chrysophyceae. Polar Biol 44, 941–957. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00300-021-02850-3
- Jeong, M., Kim, J.I., Nam, S.W., Shin, W., 2021. Molecular Phylogeny and Taxonomy of the Genus *Spumella* (Chrysophyceae) Based on Morphological and Molecular Evidence. Front Plant Sci 12, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2021.758067
- Jeuck, A., Nitsche, F., Wylezich, C., Wirth, O., Bergfeld, T., Brutscher, F., Hennemann, M., Monir, S., Scherwaß, A., Troll, N., Arndt, H., 2017. A Comparison of Methods to Analyze Aquatic Heterotrophic Flagellates of Different Taxonomic Groups. Protist 168, 375–391. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.protis.2017.04.003
- Jiang, L., Morin, P.J., 2007. Temperature fluctuation facilitates coexistence of competing species in experimental microbial communities. Journal of Animal Ecology 76, 660–668. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2007.01252.x
- Jürgens, K., Matz, C., 2002. Predation as a shaping force for the phenotypic and genotypic composition of planktonic bacteria. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 81, 413–434. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1020505204959
- Kammerlander, B., Breiner, H.W., Filker, S., Sommaruga, R., Sonntag, B., Stoeck, T., 2015. High diversity of protistan plankton communities in remote high mountain lakes in the European Alps and the Himalayan mountains. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 91, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fiv010
- Kléparski, L., Beaugrand, G., Kirby, R.R., 2022. How do plankton species coexist in an apparently unstructured environment? Biol Lett 18. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2022.0207
- Lehman, J.T., 1980. Release and cycling of nutrients between planktonic algae and herbivores. Limnol Oceanogr 25, 620–632. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1980.25.4.0620
- Letten, A.D., Dhami, M.K., Ke, P.-J., Fukami, T., 2018. Species coexistence through simultaneous fluctuation-dependent mechanisms. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 115, 6745–6750. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1801846115
- Levins, R., 1979. Coexistence in a Variable Environment. Am Nat 114, 765–783. https://doi.org/10.1086/283527

- Loreau, M., de Mazancourt, C., 2013. Biodiversity and ecosystem stability: A synthesis of underlying mechanisms. Ecol Lett 16, 106–115. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12073
- Mason, N.W.H., Mouillot, D., Lee, W.G., Wilson, J.B., 2005. Functional richness, functional evenness and functional divergence: the primary components of functional diversity. Oikos 111, 112–118. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0030-1299.2005.13886.x
- Massie, T.M., Blasius, B., Weithoff, G., Gaedke, U., Fussmann, G.F., 2010. Cycles, phase synchronization, and entrainment in single-species phytoplankton populations. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 107, 4236–4241. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0908725107
- Matz, C., Boenigk, J., Arndt, H., Jürgens, K., 2002. Role of bacterial phenotypic traits in selective feeding of the heterotrophic nanoflagellate *Spumella* sp. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 27, 137–148. https://doi.org/10.3354/ame027137
- May, R.M., 1974. Biological Populations with Nonoverlapping Generations: Stable Points, Stable Cycles, and Chaos. Science (1979) 186, 645–647. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.186.4164.645
- Morgan, D.O., 2007. The Cell Cycle-Principles of Control. Oxford University Press.
- Murdoch, W.W., Oaten, A., 1975. Predation and Population Stability. pp. 1–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2504(08)60288-3
- Nicholls, K.H., 1995. Chrysophyte blooms in the plankton and neuston of marine and freshwater systems, in: Chrysophyte Algae: Ecology, Phylogeny and Development. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 181–213. https://doi.org/doi:10.1017/CBO9780511752292.010
- Pålsson, C., Daniel, C., 2004. Effects of prey abundance and light intensity on nutrition of a mixotrophic flagellate and its competitive relationship with an obligate heterotroph. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 36, 247–256. https://doi.org/10.3354/ame036247
- Pérez-Martínez, C., Gulati, R.D., 1999. Species-specific N and P release rates in Daphnia, Hydrobiologia. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1003581110687
- Petchey, O.L., Hector, A., Gaston, K.J., 2004. How do different measures of functional diversity perform? Ecology 85, 847–857. https://doi.org/10.1890/03-0226
- Pfandl, K., Posch, T., Boenigk, J., 2004. Unexpected Effects of Prey Dimensions and Morphologies on the Size Selective Feeding by Two Bacterivorous Flagellates (*Ochromonas* sp. and *Spumella* sp.). J Eukaryot Microbiol 51, 626–633. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1550-7408.2004.tb00596.x
- Piątek, J., Lenarczyk, J., Piątek, M., 2020. Assessing morphological congruence in *Dinobryon* species and their stomatocysts, including a newly established *Dinobryon pediforme*–stomatocyst connection. Sci Rep 10, 9779. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-65997-9
- Pietsch, T., Nitsche, F., Arndt, H., 2022. High molecular diversity in the functional group of small bacterivorous non-scaled chrysomonad flagellates. Eur J Protistol 125915. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejop.2022.125915

- Powell, T., Richerson, P.J., 1985. Temporal Variation, Spatial Heterogeneity, and Competition for Resources in Plankton Systems: A Theoretical Model. Am Nat 125, 431–464. https://doi.org/10.1086/284352
- Pusztai, M., Škaloud, P., 2022. Species delimitation within the colonial flagellates *Uroglena, Uroglenopsis* and *Urostipulosphaera* (Chrysophyceae). Eur J Phycol 57, 79–95. https://doi.org/10.1080/09670262.2021.1892196
- Pusztai, M., Škaloud, P., 2019. Elucidating the evolution and diversity of *Uroglena*-like colonial flagellates (Chrysophyceae): polyphyletic origin of the morphotype. Eur J Phycol 54, 404–416. https://doi.org/10.1080/09670262.2019.1574030
- Richerson, P., Armstrong, R., Goldman, C.R., 1970. Contemporaneous Disequilibrium, a New Hypothesis to Explain the "Paradox of the Plankton". Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 67, 1710–1714. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.67.4.1710
- Rothhaupt, K.O., 1996a. Utilization of Substitutable Carbon and Phosphorus Sources by the Mixotrophic Chrysophyte *Ochromonas* sp. Ecology 77, 706–715. https://doi.org/10.2307/2265495
- Rothhaupt, K.O., 1996b. Laboratory experiments with a mixotrophic chrysophyte and obligately phagotrophic and phototrophic competitors. Ecology 77, 716–724. https://doi.org/10.2307/2265496
- Rott, E., 1988. Some aspects of the seasonal distribution of flagellates in mountain lakes. Hydrobiologia 161, 159–170. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00044108
- Rottberger, J., Gruber, A., Boenigk, J., Kroth, P.G., 2013. Influence of nutrients and light on autotrophic, mixotrophic and heterotrophic freshwater chrysophytes. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 71, 179–191. https://doi.org/10.3354/ame01662
- Roughgarden, J., Feldman, M., 1975. Species Packing and Predation Pressure. Ecology 56, 489–492. https://doi.org/10.2307/1934982
- Roy, S., Chattopadhyay, J., 2007. Towards a resolution of "the paradox of the plankton": A brief overview of the proposed mechanisms. Ecological Complexity. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecocom.2007.02.016
- Saleem, M., Fetzer, I., Harms, H., Chatzinotas, A., 2013. Diversity of protists and bacteria determines predation performance and stability. ISME J 7, 1912–1921. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2013.95
- Sanders, R.W., Porter, K.G., Caron, D.A., 1990. Relationship between Phototrophy and Phagotrophy in the Mixotrophic Chrysophyte *Poterioochromonas malhamensis*. Microb Ecol 19, 97–109.

- Scoble, J.M., Cavalier-Smith, T., 2014. Scale evolution in Paraphysomonadida (Chrysophyceae): Sequence phylogeny and revised taxonomy of *Paraphysomonas*, new genus *Clathromonas*, and 25 new species. Eur J Protistol 50, 551–592. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejop.2014.08.001
- Starmach, K., 1985. Süßwasserflora von Mitteleuropa, Bd. 1: Chrysophyceae und Haptophyceae. Gustav Fischer Verlag, Stuttgart.
- Tolotti, M., Thies, H., Cantonati, M., Hansen, C.M.E., Thaler, B., 2003. Flagellate algae (Chrysophyceae, Dinophyceae, Cryptophyceae) in 48 high mountain lakes of the Northern and Southern slope of the Eastern Alps: Biodiversity, taxa distribution and their driving variables. Hydrobiologia 502, 331–348. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:HYDR.0000004291.03882.f7
- Tyson, J.J., Csikasz-Nagy, A., Novak, B., 2002. The dynamics of cell cycle regulation. BioEssays 24, 1095–1109. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.10191
- von der Heyden, S., Cavalier-Smith, T., 2005. Culturing and environmental DNA sequencing uncover hidden kinetoplastid biodiversity and a major marine clade within ancestrally freshwater Neobodo designis. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 55, 2605–2621. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.63606-0
- Weisse, T., Rammer, S., 2006. Pronounced ecophysiological clonal differences of two common freshwater ciliates, *Coleps spetai* (Prostomatida) and *Rimostrombidium lacustris* (Oligotrichida), challenge the morphospecies concept. J Plankton Res 28, 55–63. https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/fbi100

## Subpublications and records of achievement

#### **Publications mentioned in chapters**

#### Chapter 1

**Pietsch, T.**, Nitsche, F., & Arndt, H. **2022**. High molecular diversity in the functional group of small bacterivorous non-scaled chrysomonad flagellates. *European Journal of Protistology*, 125915. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejop.2022.125915

Sampling and strain isolation was carried out either by T.P., F.N. or H.A. Some students were involved in this process. T.P. was responsible for culture maintaining and laboratory work. He isolated genetic material and prepared strains for electron microscopy, did the light microscopic investigation and transmission electron microscopy. F.N. supervised the electron microscopic investigation and analysed the preparations with the scanning electron microscope. Data were analysed by T.P supervised by F.N. for phylogenetic analysis and H.A. in general. T.P. wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors were responsible for the review and revise of the manuscript.

#### Chapter 2

**Pietsch, T.** & Arndt, H. **manuscript.** Overlap and differences in ecological traits of bacterivorous flagellates: Comparison of mixotrophic and heterotrophic chrysomonads.

#### Publication:

**Pietsch, T**. & Arndt, H., **2024**. Comparison of mixotrophic and heterotrophic chrysomonads of similar size regarding bacterivory and growth rate. *European Journal of Protistology*, 126109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejop.2024.126109.

All experiments and light microscopic investigations were carried out by T.P.; project was launched and supervised by H.A.; T.P. wrote the first draft of the manuscript. Both authors reviewed and revised the manuscript.

#### Chapter 3

Werner, J., **Pietsch, T.**, Hilker, F. M., & Arndt, H. **2022**. Intrinsic nonlinear dynamics drive single-species systems. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *119*(44). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2209601119

T.P. developed the chemostat system and the continuous cultivation of species, J.W. contributed the automatic registration. T.P. and J.W. performed research. Both were responsible for the development, construction and maintenance of the chemostat systems. F.M.H. and H.A. designed and supervised the research.

## Danksagung

Die Promotion ist eine Phase, welche sich über mehrere Jahre erstreckt. Während dieser Zeit ist jeder auf Unterstützung angewiesen, wodurch sowohl in fachlichen als auch persönlichen Belangen, viele Personen direkt oder indirekt zu der Dissertation und Disputation beitragen. An dieser Stelle möchte ich daher all jenen danken, die mich in dieser wichtigen Lebensphase unterstützt haben.

Zuallererst möchte ich mich herzlich bei Prof. Dr. Hartmut Arndt bedanken. Zum einen für die Möglichkeit zur Promotion in seiner Arbeitsgruppe und zum anderen für die gute Betreuung und Geduld. Besonders dankbar bin ich für die vielen Gelegenheiten in denen ich wichtige Erfahrungen sammeln konnte, wie beispielsweise die regelmäßige Teilnahme an Tagungen, die Tiefseeexpedition, sowie die Einbindung in die Lehre. Dabei übersteigt das Engagement, welches er seinen Studierenden entgegenbringt, bei weitem das, was im Rahmen einer Promotion als selbstverständlich erachtet werden darf.

Johannes Werner möchte ich für die langjährige Unterstützung, insbesondere beim Chemostat-System, aber auch bei vielen anderen Dingen rund um die Promotion und den Laboralltag danken. Durch seine Unterstützung hat er zu einem wesentlichen Teil dazu beigetragen, dass die vorliegende Dissertation möglich war. Dies wird unter anderem durch die Tatsache deutlich, dass zwei der insgesamt vier Abschlussarbeiten, welche ich während der Promotion betreut habe, von ihm angefertigt wurden. In diesem Zuge möchte ich mich auch bei Julia Edanackaparampil (ehemals Platzen) und Svenja Becks für die produktive und gute Zusammenarbeit während ihrer Bachelorarbeiten bedanken.

Bei Dr. Frank Nitsche möchte ich mich für die vielen Anregungen und Hinweise bei allerlei kleinen Problemen im Labor danken. Insbesondere aber für die tatkräftige Unterstützung bei der Phylogenie und Elektronenmikroskopie.

Brigitte Gräfte und Rosita Bieg danke ich für die Unterstützung im Labor. Eine Arbeitsgruppe ohne TA's ist kaum vorstellbar und es sollte nie unterschätzt werden wie wichtig deren Unterstützung im Laboralltag ist. Gleiches gilt für die Verwaltungsaufgaben und somit für Bärbel Jendral. Egal ob es um Bestellungen, Reisekostenabrechnungen oder Verträge ging. Selbstverständlich möchte ich mich auch bei allen anderen Mitgliedern der Arbeitsgruppe für den regen Informationsaustausch, die anregenden Diskussionen und das herzliche Miteinander bedanken. Außerdem möchte ich mich bei Christoph Göttlinger (Institut für Genetik) für die Unterstützung am FACS und Hanna Cieszynski (Institut für Geologie und Mineralogie) für die Unterstützung bei der Elektronenmikroskopie bedanken.

Ferner möchte ich mich bei Dr. Kenneth Dumack für das Zweitgutachten, bei Prof. Dr. Ute Höcker für den Vorsitz der Disputation und Dr. Anja Scherwaß für die Protokollführung der Disputation herzlich bedanken.

Matthias Uthoff, welcher der wesentliche Grund dafür war, dass ich mein Studium an der Universität zu Köln überhaupt begonnen habe, danke ich für die langjährige Freundschaft und die Unterstützung im gesamten Studium. Ohne ihn hätte sich mein Leben nicht so entwickelt, wie es heute ist. Ferner möchte ich mich bei Christian Burberg, Alina und Nils Teuscher, sowie Schirin Birkmann für die Freundschaft und Unterstützung während der Promotionsphase und auch in Zukunft bedanken.

Meiner Frau Jessica Pietsch danke ich besonders für den grenzenlosen Rückhalt und die ständige Unterstützung in allen Belangen sowie für das Korrekturlesen. Wie Matthias Uthoff stellt sie eine der wichtigsten Personen in meinen Leben dar und hat in vielfältiger Hinsicht dazu beigetragen, dass die vorliegende Dissertation möglich war. Ferner danke ich meinen Eltern und Geschwistern für das Interesse an meinem Promotionsthema und deren Rückhalt.

## Appendix

- A.1. High molecular diversity in the functional group of small bacterivorous nonscaled chrysomonad flagellates
- A.2. Overlap and differences in ecological traits of bacterivorous flagellates: Comparison of mixotrophic and heterotrophic chrysomonads
- A.3. Intrinsic nonlinear dynamics drive single-species systems
- A.4. Investigation of trait based nonlinear dynamics with individual based models

A.1. High molecular diversity in the functional group of small bacterivorous non-scaled chrysomonad flagellates



**Figure A.1-1.** Additional SEM images showing vegetative cells of new described species A. HFCC 660 = *Poteriospumella maldiviensis* sp. nov. B. HFCC 668 = *Poteriospumella vasocystis* comp. nov. C. HFCC 1250 = *Atacamaspumella andiensis* gen. nov. sp. nov. D. HFCC 1534 = *Chlorospumella boenigkii* gen nov. sp. nov. E. HFCC 1230 = *Vivaspumella atacamiensis* gen nov. sp. nov. F. HFCC 236 = *Pseudapoikia anjascherwassiae* gen. nov. sp. nov. sp. nov.



**Figure A.1-2.** Additional SEM images of stomatocysts from HFCC 668 = *Poteriospumella vasocystsis* comp. nov. Scale = 10  $\mu$ m.



**Figure A.1-3.** Original drawings of *Ochromonas vasocystis* (described herein as *Poteriospumella vasocystis* comp. nov.). Vegetative cells (16-17) and different developmental stages of stomatocysts (18-21). Taken from Doflein (1923; Plate 17).

# A.2. Overlap and differences in ecological traits of bacterivorous flagellates: Comparison of mixotrophic and heterotrophic chrysomonads

See supplementary data of the related publication:

**Pietsch, T**. & Arndt, H., **2024**. Comparison of mixotrophic and heterotrophic chrysomonads of similar size regarding bacterivory and growth rate. *European Journal of Protistology*, 126109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejop.2024.126109.

#### A.3. Intrinsic nonlinear dynamics drive single-species systems.

See supplementary data of the related publication:

Werner, J., **Pietsch, T.**, Hilker, F. M., & Arndt, H. **2022**. Intrinsic nonlinear dynamics drive single-species systems. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *119*(44). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2209601119

# A.4. Investigation of trait based nonlinear dynamics with individual based models

Most theoretical models in ecology use differential equations to describe population dynamics as change over time. A consequence of this approach is the view at the entire population assuming that all individuals are identical units. However, differences in traits and the individual fate of a single individual can contribute to the population dynamics. Such individual differences can be modelled by individual based models where the entire population is the sum of individuals recognised as single unit.

An individual based approach was chosen to investigate the population dynamics of a single species whose population is structured by different traits. Considering the cell cycle and the required amount of biomass as important cellular processes for the growth rate, clones of a species may differ in such temperature dependent traits. In the individual based model, the resource uptake rate was formulated as function of temperature (Jöhnk et al., 2008) and traits with different optimal temperatures were formulated. The given model is a chemostat system with a given flow rate simulating the death of individuals and the turn over rate of nutrients. Cell division and thus growth depends on the required biomass and time to pass the cell cycle.

A simulation of five different traits at a flow rate of 0.5 d<sup>-1</sup> and a natural temperature fluctuation (data from the River Rhine, Fig. A.4-1) revealed nonlinear dynamics for both, the whole population as well as for clonal subpopulation with different traits (Fig. A.4-2 and A.4-3). Coexistence of all traits was possible for the first days of the simulation and three traits coexisted until the whole population was extinct. The cause for the extinction of all traits was the strong decrease in temperature which was not appropriate considered for the trait definition. The frequency of traits changed over time depending on the temperature and all of the three coexisting traits dominated the population at a given time.

The model is a conceptual model with rather fictive but realistic parameters. However, it shows that different traits in a population can coexist and influence the population dynamic. Moreover, it shows that rapid environmental changes may influence the population differentially depending on the current trait frequency.

This model was developed by J. Edanackaparampil (formerly Platzen) as part of her bachelor thesis under supervision of T. Pietsch and H. Arndt.

References

Jöhnk, K. D., Huisman, J., Sharples, J., Sommeijer, B., Visser, P. M., & Stroom, J. M. (2008). Summer heatwaves promote blooms of harmful cyanobacteria. *Global Change Biology*, 14(3), 495–512. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2007.01510.x



**Figure A.4-1.** Time series of water temperature of the River Rhine at the measuring site Bad-Honnef for the year 2016 (Source: Landesamt für Natur Umwelt und Verbraucherschutz. NRW; LANUV). Blue rectangular represents the section used for model simulation.



**Figure A.4-2.** Result of model simulation, depicted is the entire population dynamic over time. The time series of the temperature from the River Rhine (Fig. A.4-1) was set as temperature parameter. Temperature decline caused the extinction of the population after 130 days at a flow rate of 0.5 d<sup>-1</sup> (compare section Fig. A.4-1).



**Figure A.4-3.** Results of model simulation, depicted are abundances of different temperature traits, corresponding to Fig. A.4-2. Coexistence of three traits (temp.<sub>opt</sub> 21, 22 and 23°C) was possible until extinction of all traits but abundance was low for temp.<sub>opt</sub> 22°C (below 100 individuals).

#### R Code of the individual based model

#### ## Parameter settings

temperaturdaten=read.csv("TemperaturDaten.csv",sep=";",dec=",")

temperature = temperaturdaten\$wert				
D = 0.5/24	# Turnover rate per hour calculated from daily turnover rate			
cMed = 1500	# Ressource concentration in mg			
reqBM = 0.0225	# Required biomass for cell division			
reqAge = 7.5	# Required cell age for cell division (cell cycle)			
c = 0.2 # Conversion efficiency of carbon into biomass (conversion factor)				

day=length(temperaturdaten\$wert)/24 # Days of simulation

t=day\*24 # Timesteps in hours

N0 = 1000 # Startabundance (individuals)

# Specific abundance of traits

traitlist = c(rep("trait.1",200)),

rep("trait.2",200),

rep("trait.3",200),

#### rep("trait.4",200),

rep("trait.5",200))

max.uptake=0.003 #nanogramm

# Temperature optimum (max.uptake) of different traits

t.opt.trait1 = 24	#Trait 1
t.opt.trait2 = 23	#Trait 2
t.opt.trait3 = 22	#Trait 3
t.opt.trait4 = 21	#Trait 4
t.opt.trait5 = 20	#Trait 5

b=5.77	# needed for	Joenk	equation

R1=1.3 # needed for Joenk equation

R2=1.37 # needed for Joenk equation

## Definition of temperature range

temprange = seq(from=-1, to=40, by=0.01)

#### ## Definition of Joenk equation

trait1 = max.uptake\*(1+b\*((R1^(temprange-t.opt.trait1)-1)-(log(R1)/log(R2))\*(R2^(temprange-t.opt.trait1)-1)))

trait2 = max.uptake\*(1+b\*((R1^(temprange-t.opt.trait2)-1)-(log(R1)/log(R2))\*(R2^(temprange-t.opt.trait2)-1)))

trait3 = max.uptake\*(1+b\*((R1^(temprange-t.opt.trait3)-1)-(log(R1)/log(R2))\*(R2^(temprange-t.opt.trait3)-1)))

trait4 = max.uptake\*(1+b\*((R1^(temprange-t.opt.trait4)-1)-(log(R1)/log(R2))\*(R2^(temprange-t.opt.trait4)-1)))

trait5 = max.uptake\*(1+b\*((R1^(temprange-t.opt.trait5)-1)-(log(R1)/log(R2))\*(R2^(temprange-t.opt.trait5)-1)))

## Definiton of Plot parameter for Joenk graph

```
uptakes = c(trait1,trait2,trait3,trait4,trait5)
```

traitidentification1 = rep("trait1",length(temprange))
traitidentification2 = rep("trait2",length(temprange))
traitidentification3 = rep("trait3",length(temprange))
traitidentification4 = rep("trait4",length(temprange))
traitidentification5 = rep("trait5",length(temprange))

traitidentification = c(traitidentification1,

traitidentification2, traitidentification3, traitidentification4, traitidentification5)

xachse = rep(temprange,5) #Temperaturange für x-Achse Plot für jeden Trait

plot = data.frame(xachse,traitidentification,uptakes)

legende=c(as.character(t.opt.trait5),

as.character(t.opt.trait4),

as.character(t.opt.trait3),

as.character(t.opt.trait2),

as.character(t.opt.trait1)) #Legende für Plot: Trait1-5

mycolour=c("blue","red2","forestgreen","orange","black") #Colour coding for Plot: Trait1-5

## Code for Plot

joehnk.xlab = expression(paste("Temperature [°C]"))

joehnk.ylab = expression(paste("Maximum uptake rate",italic(" max")))

joehnk.neu <- ggplot(plot,aes(x=xachse,y=uptakes,col=traitidentification))

joehnk.neu <- joehnk.neu + ylim(0,0.0032)

 $joehnk.neu <- joehnk.neu + coord_cartesian(xlim = c(0, 30))$ 

joehnk.neu <- joehnk.neu + theme\_classic()

joehnk.neu <- joehnk.neu + theme(panel.grid.major = element\_blank(), panel.grid.minor = element\_blank())

joehnk.neu <- joehnk.neu + scale\_colour\_manual(values=mycolour,

labels=legende,name="Optimum \ntemperature")

joehnk.neu <- joehnk.neu + theme(axis.title.y=element\_text(size=14,face="bold"),

axis.title.x=element\_text(size=14,face="bold"),

axis.text.y=element\_text(size=12,color="black"),

axis.text.x=element\_text(size=12,color="black"))

joehnk.neu <- joehnk.neu + labs(x=joehnk.xlab,y=joehnk.ylab)</pre>

joehnk.neu <- joehnk.neu + guides(colour = guide\_legend(override.aes = list(size=3)))

joehnk.neu <- joehnk.neu + theme(legend.title = element\_text(colour="black", size=10))

joehnk.neu <- joehnk.neu + theme(aspect.ratio=3/5)</pre>

joehnk.neu <- joehnk.neu + theme(aspect.ratio=3/5)

joehnk.neu <- joehnk.neu + geom\_line(size=0.2)</pre>

joehnk.neu

#### ## Model Simulation

```
set.seed(1)
ind = vector( mode = "list", N0)
for (i in seq(ind)){
    ind[[i]]$alive = 1
    ind[[i]]$age = sample(c(0,1,2,3,4,5),1,replace=FALSE)
    ind[[i]]$biomass = 0.01
    ind[[i]]$trait = traitlist[i]
    ind[[i]]$trait = traitlist[i]
    ind[[i]]$colour = c("red"[which(ind[[i]]$trait=="trait.1")],
        "yellow"[which(ind[[i]]$trait=="trait.2")],
        "green"[which(ind[[i]]$trait=="trait.3")],
        "black"[which(ind[[i]]$trait=="trait.4")],
        "blue"[which(ind[[i]]$trait=="trait.5")])
```

```
}
```

```
time = seq(t+1)
pop <- NaN * time # population size
pop[1] = N0
frac.blue <- NaN * time # fraction of population that is blue
cols <- sapply(ind, function(x) x$colour)
frac.blue[1] <- sum(cols == "blue")
frac.red <- NaN * time # fraction of population that is blue
cols <- sapply(ind, function(x) x$colour)</pre>
```

```
frac.red[1] <- sum(cols == "red")</pre>
```

frac.green <- NaN \* time # fraction of population that is blue cols <- sapply(ind, function(x) x\$colour) frac.green[1] <- sum(cols == "green")</pre>

frac.yellow <- NaN \* time # fraction of population that is blue cols <- sapply(ind, function(x) x\$colour) frac.yellow[1] <- sum(cols == "yellow")</pre>

frac.black <- NaN \* time # fraction of population that is blue cols <- sapply(ind, function(x) x\$colour) frac.black[1] <- sum(cols == "black")</pre>

med.resource.concentration <- NaN\*time med.resource.concentration[1] <- cMed

uptake <- NaN\*time

uptaketemp <- NaN\*time

t1 <- Sys.time()

for(i in seq(t)){ # loop for each time increment

is.alive <- which(sapply(ind, function(x) x\$alive) == 1)

current.resource.concentration = med.resource.concentration[i]

temp.uptake = numeric(0)

```
max24 = max.uptake*(1+b*((R1^(temperature[i]-t.opt.trait5)-1)-
(log(R1)/log(R2))*(R2^(temperature[i]-t.opt.trait5)-1)))
```

```
max23 = max.uptake*(1+b*((R1^(temperature[i]-t.opt.trait4)-1)-
(log(R1)/log(R2))*(R2^(temperature[i]-t.opt.trait4)-1)))
```

```
max22 = max.uptake*(1+b*((R1^(temperature[i]-t.opt.trait3)-1)-
(log(R1)/log(R2))*(R2^(temperature[i]-t.opt.trait3)-1)))
```

```
max21 = max.uptake*(1+b*((R1^(temperature[i]-t.opt.trait2)-1)-
(log(R1)/log(R2))*(R2^(temperature[i]-t.opt.trait2)-1)))
```

```
\label{eq:max20} \begin{split} \max &20 = \max. uptake^*(1+b^*((R1^(temperature[i]-t.opt.trait1)-1)-(log(R1)/log(R2))^*(R2^(temperature[i]-t.opt.trait1)-1))) \end{split}
```

```
ind.uptake <- vector( mode="list", pop[i])
```

```
for (I in seq(ind.uptake)){
```

```
ind.uptake[[I]]$induptake = c(rep(NaN, length(seq(t))))
```

}

for (j in is.alive){

```
if (ind[[j]]$trait=="trait.1"){
```

ind.uptake[[j]]\$induptake[[i]]=(max24\*current.resource.concentration)/(max24/2+current.resource.concentration)

```
}else if (ind[[j]]$trait=="trait.2"){
```

ind.uptake[[j]]\$induptake[[i]]=(max23\*current.resource.concentration)/(max23/2+current.resource.concentration)

}else if (ind[[j]]\$trait=="trait.3"){

ind.uptake[[j]]\$induptake[[i]]=(max22\*current.resource.concentration)/(max22/2+current.reso urce.concentration)

}else if (ind[[j]]\$trait=="trait.4"){

ind.uptake[[j]]\$induptake[[i]]=(max21\*current.resource.concentration)/(max21/2+current.resource.concentration)

```
}else if (ind[[j]]$trait=="trait.5"){
```

ind.uptake[[j]]\$induptake[[i]]=(max20\*current.resource.concentration)/(max20/2+current.reso urce.concentration)

```
}
if (ind.uptake[[j]]$induptake[[i]] <= 0){
    ind.uptake[[j]]$induptake[[i]] = 0
}</pre>
```

```
temp.uptake=c(temp.uptake,ind.uptake[[j]]$induptake[[i]])
```

```
}
```

```
uptaketemp[i] = sum(temp.uptake)
```

```
for (j in is.alive){
```

```
if (uptaketemp[i]>=current.resource.concentration){
```

```
ind.uptake[[j]]$induptake[[i]] =
ind.uptake[[j]]$induptake[[i]]/uptaketemp[i]*current.resource.concentration
```

```
uptake[i] = current.resource.concentration
```

```
}else{
    uptake[i] = sum(temp.uptake)
}
```

med.resource.concentration[i+1] = current.resource.concentration+(D\*(cMed-

```
current.resource.concentration)-
```

#### uptake[i])

for(j in is.alive){

if( ind[[j]]\$biomass>=reqBM && ind[[j]]\$age>=reqAge){birth=TRUE # calculate a birth probability for each individual that is alive

}else{birth=FALSE}

if(birth){

len.ind <- length(ind)</pre>

ind[[len.ind+1]] <- list(alive=1, age=0, biomass=ind[[j]]\$biomass/2, trait=ind[[j]]\$trait,

colour=ind[[j]]\$colour) # create offspring, inherits half biomass of parent

ind[[j]]\$biomass=ind[[j]]\$biomass/2

ind[[j]]\$age=0

} else if (ind[[j]]\$age<=reqAge && ind[[j]]\$biomass<=reqBM) { #else, advance age + 1

ind[[j]]\$age = ind[[j]]\$age + 1

ind[[j]]\$biomass=ind[[j]]\$biomass + ind.uptake[[j]]\$induptake[[i]]\*c# advance age + biomass of parent

}else if (ind[[j]]\$age>=reqAge && ind[[j]]\$biomass<=reqBM) { #else, advance age + 1

```
ind[[j]]$age = ind[[j]]$age + 1
```

ind[[j]]\$biomass=ind[[j]]\$biomass + ind.uptake[[j]]\$induptake[[i]]\*c# advance age + biomass of parent

```
}else{
    ind[[j]]$age = ind[[j]]$age + 1
  }
}
```

```
death <- pop[i]*D
```

# death <- round(pop[i]/(1+D)) #######das macht nur eine gerade Linie

```
ind=sample(ind, length(ind)-death)
```

is.alive <- which(sapply(ind, function(x) x\$alive) == 1)
pop[i+1] <- length(is.alive)</pre>

```
cols <- sapply(ind, function(x) x$colour)
frac.blue[i+1] <- sum(cols[is.alive] == "blue")
cols <- sapply(ind, function(x) x$colour)
frac.red[i+1] <- sum(cols[is.alive] == "red")
cols <- sapply(ind, function(x) x$colour)
frac.green[i+1] <- sum(cols[is.alive] == "green")
cols <- sapply(ind, function(x) x$colour)
frac.yellow[i+1] <- sum(cols[is.alive] == "yellow")
cols <- sapply(ind, function(x) x$colour)
frac.black[i+1] <- sum(cols[is.alive] == "black")</pre>
```



```
t2 <- Sys.time()
dt <- t2-t1
dt
```

## Eidesstattliche Erklärung gemäß §7 Abs. 8

"Hiermit versichere ich an Eides statt, dass ich die vorliegende Dissertation selbstständig und ohne die Benutzung anderer als der angegebenen Hilfsmittel und Literatur angefertigt habe. Alle Stellen, die wörtlich oder sinngemäß aus veröffentlichten und nicht veröffentlichten Werken dem Wortlaut oder dem Sinn nach entnommen wurden, sind als solche kenntlich gemacht. Ich versichere an Eides statt, dass diese Dissertation noch keiner anderen Fakultät oder Universität zur Prüfung vorgelegen hat; dass sie - abgesehen von unten angegebenen Teilpublikationen und eingebundenen Artikeln und Manuskripten - noch nicht veröffentlicht worden ist sowie, dass ich eine Veröffentlichung der Dissertation vor Abschluss der Promotion nicht Genehmigung des Promotionsausschusses ohne vornehmen werde. Die Bestimmungen dieser Ordnung sind mir bekannt. Darüber hinaus erkläre ich hiermit, dass ich die Ordnung zur Sicherung guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis und zum Umgang mit wissenschaftlichem Fehlverhalten der Universität zu Köln gelesen und sie bei der Durchführung der Dissertation zugrundeliegenden Arbeiten und der schriftlich verfassten Dissertation beachtet habe und verpflichte mich hiermit, die dort genannten Vorgaben bei allen wissenschaftlichen Tätigkeiten zu beachten und umzusetzen. Ich versichere, dass die eingereichte elektronische Fassung der eingereichten Druckfassung vollständig entspricht."

#### Teilpublikationen:

**Pietsch, T.**, Nitsche, F., & Arndt, H. **2022**. High molecular diversity in the functional group of small bacterivorous non-scaled chrysomonad flagellates. *European Journal of Protistology*, 125915. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejop.2022.125915

Werner, J., **Pietsch, T.**, Hilker, F. M., & Arndt, H. **2022**. Intrinsic nonlinear dynamics drive single-species systems. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *119*(44). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2209601119

Zum Zeitpunkt der eingereichten Dissertation als Manuskript eingebundene Publikation:

**Pietsch, T**. & Arndt, H., **2024**. Comparison of mixotrophic and heterotrophic chrysomonads of similar size regarding bacterivory and growth rate. *European Journal of Protistology*, 126109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejop.2024.126109.